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WE MUST STRIVE TO 
CONTINUOUSLY FIND 
SOLUTIONS TO NEW 

CHALLENGES. WE 
MUST REACH OUT
TO THOSE IN NEED
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CHAIRPERSON’S FOREWORD

Today’s existential moment 
demands that we re-imagine 
development as climate 
responsibility
Even though the multi-dimensional 
burdens of climate vulnerability are 
increasingly obvious, acute and pressing, 
our response cannot be one of despair. 

20% of the total land in Bangladesh is coastal, over half of which is affected by varying degrees of salinity. Years of exposure to 
salinity combined with a scarcity of clean water are causing women in the region to suffer from reproductive health problems, 
chronic gastrointestinal issues, and skin diseases. The problem is becoming more acute as salinity continues to increase, to 
the point where young girls are taking birth control pills to stop their menstrual cycles, and women in their 30s are undergoing 
hysterectomies just to stay alive.
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DR HOSSAIN ZILLUR RAHMAN
Chairperson
BRAC

Planet Earth is suffering and with it 
its inhabitants. It is a reality of our 
own making and the consequences 
at individual, familial, communal 
and societal levels are piling up 
relentlessly. Impact of climate 
change has long passed the 
stage of being only an academic 
concern. Bangladesh is not an 
exception. Indeed, it is on the 
frontline of climate vulnerability. 
Saline intrusion is endangering 
reproductive health in our coastal 
communities. Unfamiliar heatwaves 
are disrupting work, livelihoods 
and education alike. Increasing 
weather unpredictability is putting 
agriculture in new and newer 
risks. Water scarcity is disrupting 
daily routines of and imposing 
new burdens on a fast-growing 
number in both urban and rural, 

particularly women of all ages. The 
disappearing sense of seasons is 
adversely re-writing childhood and 
adolescence. No sector is immune. 

Just as poverty prompted a call-
to-action in the early decades of 
Bangladesh, climate-vulnerability 
now has to be imagined as a new 
call-to-action and a new test of our 
individual and collective will, our 
solution-centric mindsets and our 
resilience. 

In this journey, data and ground-
truthing of the nature of impacts 
will be critical. As will be new 
conversations with communities. 
Pilot innovations have to be distilled 
for the relevant lessons. We will 
have to build meaningful horizontal 
and vertical partnerships to realise 
the global focus on localisation. 
BRAC is already invested and 
working in each of these. 

We have to go further. We have to 
take a deep look at the essentials 
of the development paradigm that 
has brought us to this stage. We 
have to reconnect with humanity’s 
fundamental responsibility of 
stewardship when it comes to living 
and dealing with nature. It is not a 
stand-alone responsibility for any 

Our aim should 
be to become a 
key partner of 
choice of local 
communities, 
of the state and 
of international 
partners in 
responding to 
this existential 
challenge 
of climate-
vulnerability.

particular region or any particular 
group. Before our eyes, the climate 
crisis is affecting every corner of the 
globe. The wake-up call has been 
ringing ever louder and looking 
the other direction is no longer an 
option. We have to work on the 
small solutions. We have to work 
on the big solutions. And we have 
to work on our behaviours. Today’s 
existential moment demands that 
we re-imagine development as 
climate responsibility.



LETTER FROM THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

We stand committed alongside 
our partners to build a world 
that works for all and not 
just a few
The efforts started to show results, both 
in terms of outcomes and also in raising 
BRAC’s profile - as an impactful service 
provider at scale, but also in bringing 
parties together for strategic solutions. 
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As we conclude another 
transformative year, I am happy to 
report that we have come out of the 
other side stronger, more resilient 
and more determined. Bangladesh 
trudged through 2023 with one eye 
on the political landscape, being 
an election year, and the other on 
the economy. Just as we were 
bouncing back from the pandemic-
induced slowdown, a foreign 
reserve crunch spurred by the 
Ukraine war led to inflation surging 
to record levels. Food price inflation 
stung people particularly hard.

Despite it all, we managed to do 
well.

BRAC intensified its advocacy 
efforts globally, focusing on three 
key areas: increasing climate 
adaptation financing, led by 

Bangladesh; eradicating extreme 
poverty, led by BRAC International, 
and introducing a more localised 
model for protracted humanitarian 
crises, supported by BRAC Global.

As an example, the localisation 
fund we started in the humanitarian 
sector in 2022 expanded to include 
new donors, and then USAID 
structured a separate fund for 
the rest of Bangladesh, which 
was awarded to BRAC. The new 
Bangladesh America Maitree 
Project will expand funding and 
training opportunities directly 
to grassroots organisations 
to implement development 
programmes in the communities 
they work in.

Similarly, the intense focus on 
an integrated approach in the 
Rohingya camps led to UNHCR 
and BRAC agreeing to co-create 
a model together, and the focus 
of the response slowly moving 
towards a more localised, 
integrated approach.

The operationalisation of the 
Climate Hub was a significant 
milestone, and will be crucial 
in strengthening integrated 
programming on the ground, 
generating funding and evidence 
for scale. Our climate adaptation 
clinics are bringing solutions, tools 
and advice to the hands of farmers, 
one particularly visible example 
being the cultivation of thousands 
of acres of climate-resilient varieties 
of sunflowers. Our crop insurance 
initiative now partners with more 
than 100,000 farmers across 
Bangladesh helping them adapt 

In the climate 
space, we 
expanded 
climate 
action, both 
in supporting 
people to 
adapt, as well 
as bringing 
their insights 
to decision-
making tables.

to climate shocks. Our joint efforts 
in advocacy, communication and 
programming have led to BRAC 
becoming an important global 
player from the global south with 
very little investment.

Another powerful example of 
BRAC’s increasing role as a 
facilitator can be seen in the 
creation of the Bangladesh 
Sustainability Alliance. Working 
with the chief executives of the 
companies that produce the most 
plastic in the country, we got 
everyone in the plastic industry 
ecosystem to come together. 
Similarly, BRAC continued to 
play a role in sectoral negotiation 
with the government through the 
CSO (Civil Society Organisations) 
Alliance. The work on localisation 
with USAID will continue to see 
this role of leadership to the sector 
strengthened.

One initiative showing promising 
results is a pilot using lay 
counsellors to embed mental health 
in the primary healthcare system. 
Other innovative models being tried 
out include Creative Clubs, an after-
school club for Class 7 students in 
secondary schools; Amra Notun 
Network, a changemakers’ network 
for young people; contextualising 
Graduation in new settings to work 
better for climate adaptation and 
persons with disabilities; and a new 
experimental model on stopping 
child marriage. 2023 also marked 
our best fundraising year in the last 
five years. 

We are expanding our efforts to 
partner with the government, to 
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Adaptation clinics are one-stop service centres for smallholder farmers in climatic hotspots, to provide holistic support to enhance 
their adaptive capacity. Services include agricultural inputs (such as seed and  fertiliser), information and advice, capacity building 
and knowledge sharing, as well as content-specific agri-storage facilities.
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ASIF SALEH
Executive Director
BRAC

Amidst all these 
new things, 
BRAC has not 
lost its focus 
of creating 
new, innovative 
models for 
emerging social 
problems. 

ensure services reach people 
who need it the most. This work 
has shown particular results in 
the health space, particularly in 
non-communicable diseases. We 
are in the middle of a joint pilot to 
strengthen community clinics, using 
our community health workers to 
screen hypertension and diabetes 
patients and establish an effective 
chain of services from communities 
to government health facilities. 
BRAC’s interventions in the health 
space have now merged into one 
compact programme.

One of our core strategic 
approaches - focusing more on 
poverty pockets in an integrated 
approach - got significant traction 
in 2023. We consolidated many 
of our interventions in the 34 
districts in the worst state of 
poverty. Microfinance had a two-
pronged strategy - truly focusing 
on unserved populations, while 
also creating customised products 
for better-off populations. We are 
now reaching 10 million people 
with microfinance. Our integrated 
development programme is 
developing customised service 
models for climate hotspots, 
chars (riverine islands), and the 
Chittagong Hill Tracts. We are 
reaching people in poverty pockets 
through a single management 
channel and minimum resources 
through the ‘BRAC to Basic’ 
approach which we piloted 
throughout 2021-22. We hope to 

show more transformative results in 
this space in the coming year.

As we venture into another year 
that will undoubtedly be even 
more challenging, with climate 
shocks intensifying in force and 
unpredictability, we are reinforcing 
our commitment to unmaking 
inequality. With relentless focus 
and coalition building, we stand 
committed alongside our partners 
to build a world that works for all 
and not just a few.
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LETTER FROM THE MANAGING DIRECTOR

Bangladesh cautiously emerged 
out of 2023, both politically and 
economically. The economy was 
kept on track with the inaugurations 
of large public infrastructure 
projects like the Dhaka Elevated 
Expressway, but people struggled 
as inflation surged to 9.94% in 

2023 tested the resilience of 
Bangladesh. We emerged 
stronger because of it
With the climate and environmental crisis 
rapidly intensifying, sustainable farming 
practices are increasingly in focus. 

May 2023, the highest in the last 
decade. Much of this was due 
to the international supply chain 
disruption caused by the Ukraine 
war.

The impact of inflation was 
compounded by average wage 

growth remaining well below the 
inflation rate for the 22nd month 
straight until November 2023. We 
saw the impacts of these pressures 
on the sales floor, as our 900 gram 
package of Aarong ghee (clarified 
butter) - which used to be a prime 
mover - was replaced by smaller 

BRAC University’s new seven-acre campus, which has already received an international award for eco-friendly design featuring 
breezeways to provide cross-ventilation, encourages students to embrace a sustainable culture of environmental, economic and 
social responsibility through leadership, education and personal accountability.
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TAMARA HASAN ABED
Managing Director
BRAC Enterprises

We now need sustained activities 
at the individual farm level to prove 
that these products work, are cost-
effective, and are vital for agriculture 
and the environment - particularly in 
the long term. 

Environmental sustainability was 
also key in the design of BRAC 
University’s new campus, which 
we opened the doors to this year. 
We partnered with the Singapore-
based global leader in sustainable 
architectural design WOHA to 
bring it to life, as well as Transsolar, 
a Germany-based engineering 
organisation specialising in 
energy efficient appliances. From 
aerodynamic fins that channel 
wind throughout the building, to 
rain chains that channel water 
to gardens and ponds, to solar 
panels that provide 40% of the 
campus’ electricity needs, we hope 
the campus will set a benchmark 
of sustainable architecture in 
Bangladesh.

Also in terms of infrastructure, 
we also made a lot of small 
sustainability-focused changes 
across our enterprise production 
facilities in 2023, particularly in 
Aarong Dairy - switching to energy-
saving lighting, sensor-based taps 
and piloting of small solar units. We 
will be looking at expanding and 
scaling up those changes in the 
coming year. 

People-centricity, well-being and 
sustainability was key for Aarong in 
2023 as well. We continued to scale 
up our distribution and physical 
footprint through two new outlets, 
taking the total to 28, as well as 
expanding e-commerce options.

The focus is three-fold; establish 
a chain of outpatient clinics 
where family physicians are the 

We launched 
the first BRAC 
Healthcare 
centre in March, 
with the aim of 
inculcating a 
more patient-
centric, 
empathic 
approach in 
Bangladesh’s 
healthcare 
landscape

first point of contact in times of 
medical needs; introduce a holistic 
approach that offers preventative as 
well as curative care, and enables 
physicians to spend genuine quality 
time with patients; and provide 
access to a range of facilities, 
including services like dental and 
physiotherapy, under one roof. The 
focus on the quality of care has 
been warmly welcomed - over half 
of patients visiting the centre have 
been referred by someone they 
know. We plan to scale this initiative 
with 20 centres in the next four 
years.

2023 tested the resilience of 
Bangladesh, and we emerged 
stronger because of it. As the world 
continues to change, BRAC’s social 
enterprises will continue to innovate 
to meet changing needs and 
contribute to building a world where 
everyone has the opportunity to 
realise their potential.

packets of 200 and 400 grams as 
higher-selling products. 

2023 was a year of climate 
extremes. The 2023 Asia Heatwave 
which swept across much of South 
and Southeast Asia led to record 
temperatures followed by record 
rainfall at the end of October, 
flooding and a mild coldwave in 
December. All of these extremes 
severely impacted agricultural 
productivity.  We saw tangible 
impacts in our fisheries operations, 
with some ponds going dry during 
heatwaves.

One initiative in this regard that 
was realised in 2023 was the 
launch of bio-pesticides by BRAC 
Seed and Agro enterprise. The 
products have shown promising 
initial results, considering chemical 
pesticides have an established 
market presence of half a century. 
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VISION, MISSION AND VALUES

VISION MISSION VALUES
A world free from all forms of 
exploitation and discrimination 
where everyone has the 
opportunity to realise their 
potential.

Our mission is to empower 
people and communities in 
situations of poverty, illiteracy, 
disease, and social injustice. 
Our interventions aim to 
achieve large scale, positive 
changes through economic 
and social programmes that 
enable men and women to 
realise their potential.

Integrity
Innovation
Inclusiveness
Effectiveness
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Achieving ‘full capacity’ status in 
the capacity assessment of UN’s 
prevention of sexual exploitation and 
abuse (PSEA)
BRAC achieved the ‘full capacity’ 
status in a capacity assessment 
by UNICEF on behalf of all UN 
agencies, serving as a reference 
tool in connection with the 
UN’s system-wide response to 
sexual exploitation and abuse 
while working with implementing 
partners. The assessment was 
done based on eight core areas 
aligned with UN standards. 

This recognition signifies BRAC’s 
strong organisational structure, 
robust systems, comprehensive 
documentation, steadfast 
commitment to creating a safe 
and secure environment for all 
staff members, participants, and 
partners and solidifying our position 
as a trusted and reliable partner.

Safeguarding the opportunities 
to realise human potential

Demonstrating commitment: Policy 
and procedure enhancements
To meet the PSEA assessment’s 
standards, BRAC undertook a 
comprehensive review and update 
of its policies and procedures. 
These enhancements ensure 
complete alignment with UN 
standards on preventing and 
responding to sexual exploitation 
and abuse, showcasing our 
commitment to strengthened 
policies, integrated safeguarding, 
and HR systems.

We updated the Prevention of 
Sexual Harassment, Exploitation, 
and Abuse (PSHEA) Policy, BRAC 
Whistleblowing Policy, and BRAC 
Code of Conduct to reflect the UN’s 
zero-tolerance approach to sexual 
exploitation and abuse

Specific clauses on sexual 
exploitation and abuse, along with  
definitions of safeguarding were 
incorporated into our standard 
sub-grant agreement template and 
consultant agreements

Background check forms, pre-
reference checks, self-disclosure 
forms, job description clauses, and 
the safe recruitment policy were 
revised to align with updated UN 
standards on sexual exploitation 
and abuse

Building capacity: Training and 
reporting mechanisms
BRAC recognises the importance 
of ongoing awareness, knowledge 
enhancement, capacity building 
and accessible reporting channels. 
To achieve this, we implemented 
enhanced training and streamlined 
reporting.

The mandatory enhanced training 
package, including its outline 
and modules, was updated to 
effectively address SEA and Child 
Safeguarding prevention and 
response strategies.

Reporting mechanisms were 
strengthened through revisions 
to the whistleblowing policy, 
communication materials on 
safeguarding and PSEA, complaint 
box/feedback guidelines, 
and BRAC PSEA and Child 
safeguarding posters.
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Comprehensive support systems
BRAC established a response 
mechanism which  includes referral 
pathways for a survivor-centric 
approach, investigations/inquiries, 
and corrective measures.

We developed clear referral 
pathways, including resources 
like the Shongjog app, Surokkha 
Bondhu, national helpline numbers, 
service mapping for the gender-
based violence (GBV) cluster, 
the Interagency GBV Referral 
mechanism, and standard 
operating procedures for gender-
based violence case management 
in the humanitarian sector. 

Ensuring measures
BRAC takes all allegations 
seriously and has implemented 
a comprehensive investigative 
process through standardised 
investigations/inquiries, 
confidentiality and transparency, 
and disciplinary action and risk 
management.

The BRAC Inquiry/Investigation 
Guideline was revised based on 
international best practices and 
contextualised for Bangladesh. 
Risk assessment tools were also 
strengthened.

Non-disclosure agreements (NDAs) 
for inquiry officials, consent forms, 
and NDAs for complainants, alleged 
perpetrators, and witnesses were 
reviewed and updated. Written 
statement formats and consent 
forms were also revised to align 
with the UN and global standards. 
Additionally, BRAC complaint 
management flowcharts for sexual 
harassment, exploitation and abuse 
and child safeguarding were also 
developed.

BRAC’s disciplinary rules and 
regulations within the HR policy and 
procedures were updated. We also 
developed a document on case 
outcome lessons learned, reviewed 
the BRAC Risk Management Policy 
and Framework, and prepared a 
summary of the risk assessment 
report for improved risk mitigation.

A continuous commitment
BRAC remains committed to 
continuous improvement. We 
are meticulously reviewing the 
remaining safeguarding policies 
and actively collaborating with 
key stakeholders such as BRAC 
International and BRAC Global to 
ensure complete alignment across 
the organisation. 

Furthermore, BRAC is actively 
exploring new considerations, 
such as incorporating workplace 
conflict management strategies, to 
proactively prevent safeguarding 
violations. Recognising the 
heightened responsibilities 
associated with the ‘full capacity’ 
status, BRAC is steadfast in its 
efforts to cultivate a progressively 
safer and more supportive work 
environment for all. This dedication 
reflects our core values and 
ensures the wellbeing of all staff 
members remains a top priority.
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Women in coastal 
Bangladesh are 
losing their uteruses 
to the climate crisis

Bangladesh is an example that climate adaptation can work, but it needs to be better 
financed and better implemented. Three principles are crucial – that adaptation is a 
nexus of development-humanitarian-climate programming, that special attention is 
given to the most vulnerable communities and that adaptation is locally-led.

STORIES OF RESILIENCE

Water is life – except when that 
water is slowly killing you. This is 
the reality for millions of women 
in coastal Bangladesh who are 
subjected to reproductive health 
issues due to rising sea levels.

“On a crisp September morning 
14 years ago, I climbed down the 
riverbank with my fishing net and 
stepped into the water like I did 

every day. The familiar burning 
and itching greeted my skin as 
I dipped into the murky water 
of the Pashur river in Mongla, 
southwestern Bangladesh.

The water was cleaner here 
even just two years ago, when 
I married my husband and 
moved to live with him here in 
his hometown – the tiny fishing 
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village of Chilabazar. In the two 
years following the move, I gave 
birth to a son, and got used to the 
life of a fisherman’s wife – which 
meant spending 8-10 hours neck-
deep in the river to catch fish.

I held on to the fishing net with all 
my might and walked along the 
riverbed, only my hands and my 
head visible above the water. It was 
getting harder to find fish, and the 
only thought in my mind was that I 
needed to catch enough to make 
BDT 50 (USD 0.46) to buy rice for 
dinner.

Suddenly I felt something unusual. 
I reached down. Something was 
sticking out between my legs. I 
screamed – and fainted.

My sister and mother-in-law ran 
over, grabbed me by my arms 
and legs and dragged me up the 
riverbank, and into the back of a 
battery-powered auto rickshaw. 
We drove to the nearest jetty, and 
travelled by launch (ship) for two 
hours to reach the nearby public 
health facility, 40 kilometres away. 
The doctor diagnosed me with a 
prolapsed uterus.

I spent the next few months taking 
medication for it, at a cost of BDT 
10,000 (USD 90) – a small fortune 
that I was lucky enough to be able 
to borrow from relatives.

It has been 14 years since that 
morning. Not a lot has changed. 
Medical help is expensive. We 
have now sold our fishing boat to 
afford my treatment. I had another 
baby, a daughter, eight years ago. 
The last time I saw a doctor, they 
told me that I need to undergo 
a hysterectomy if I want to live. I 
have an infection in my uterus, and 
it is likely to turn cancerous. The 
procedure will cost approximately 

BDT 50,000 (almost USD 500), 500 
times our family’s daily income. 
We cannot afford it. I still go fishing 
every day.

The doctor asked me to use pads 
and wash myself with clean water 
during my period – but there’s no 
option to do that. We travel miles 
just so we can collect a small 
amount to drink.

My neighbour also developed 
an infection in her uterus after 
spending years in saline water 
catching fish. The infection turned 
cancerous within a few months, 
and she couldn’t afford the 
treatment. I watched her health 
slowly deteriorate, until she was a 
ghost of her former self. Towards 
the end, she bled constantly. She 
passed away after two years of 
suffering. I don’t want to meet the 
same fate.”

Rini Begum*, a fisher from Mongla, 
southwestern Bangladesh. (Rini 
Begum’s* name has been changed 
to protect her privacy)

A brief history of water in 
southwestern Bangladesh

Approximately 30 million people in 
Bangladesh live along the coast. 
Here, the rivers flow through 
a wide and muddy plain, their 
channels spread across the land 
like a mesh net, with the lines 
between land and water always 
mutating. There are no borders 
that divide fresh water from the 
sea. Everyday, like clockwork, the 
tides reach a few kilometres inland, 
inundating coastlines and bringing 
the saltwater in, then retract a 
few hours later. For generations, 
people have lived in harmony with 
the water, tuning their lives and 
livelihoods with the ebb and flow of 
the river tides.

Until the sea levels started rising – 
and, with them, the salinity levels in 
the rivers.

20% of the total land in Bangladesh 
is coastal, over half of which is 
affected by varying  degrees 
of salinity. Salinity intrusion is 
seasonal, with minimum salinity 
during the rainy season (June-
September), and maximum in the 
dry season (March-May).

In Chilabazar, where Rini Begum 
lives, salinity is so severe that 
even ponds and deep tube wells – 
installed at approximately 500-750 
feet underground – pump saltwater.

There are two large ponds that 
provide fresh water for the entire 
village – of approximately 2,000 
people. Women and children line 
up with jerry cans once every week 
to collect water from the ponds, 
which are revered by all to the point 
where nobody even dips their toes 
in that water, let alone bathes or 
washes in them.

The water they collect must last 
an entire week. Using them for 
washing dishes or clothes, or 
cooking or bathing, means less 
water for the family to drink. 
Compelled by this shortage of 
clean water, women and girls – who 
typically use old rags during their 
periods – are forced to wash using 
the saline water from the rivers. 
Doing so for years exposes them to 
reproductive health problems such 
as uterine prolapse, uterine cancer, 
chronic gastrointestinal problems, 
and skin diseases.

The scenario in Chilabazar is a 
common occurrence in the villages 
along the coastal belt, where 
women are more vulnerable and 
experience more problems during 
menstruation and pregnancy and 
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postnatal periods, resulting in 
higher rates of miscarriage and 
child mortality. Proper medical care 
is inaccessible and unaffordable in 
these tiny fishing communities.

The problem is becoming more 
acute as salinity continues to 
increase, to the point where young 
girls in coastal Bangladesh are 
taking birth control pills to stop their 
menstrual cycles, and women in 
their 30s are undergoing voluntary 
hysterectomies just to stay alive. 
And those options are only available 
to the few women who can afford 
them.

Those who cannot afford a 
hysterectomy suffer a slow, painful 
death over the course of a few 
years.

The cost of surgery, treatment, 
medication and aftercare can be 
up to USD 500. The average daily 
income in these communities is 
usually USD 1-3. People prefer 

going to public health facilities in 
either Bagerhat or Khulna (40-50 
km away) rather than in Mongla, 
despite the travel cost being higher 
than their daily average income, 
because of the quality of service 
available. Some families, like 
Rini’s, have to resort to selling their 
only assets, and their source of 
livelihood – usually fishing boats – 
to access the life-saving healthcare.

In Bangladesh, approximately 
1.056 million hectares (2.6 million 
acres) — an area roughly the size 
of Lebanon — of arable lands 
are affected by salinity. People in 
Mongla have always had to deal 
with high salinity for roughly half 
of every year, but sea level rise is 
leading to high salinity for almost 
nine months a year now, leaving a 
window of just three months during 
monsoon to consume and store 
water with low salinity. That window 
is shrinking each year.

Climate impacts are affecting us all, 
but we have very different levels of 
vulnerability. For women who are 
already living in poverty, struggling 
to access clean water and with 
limited access to healthcare, it 
means losing your uterus at 30 
years old. While women like Rini 
have hardly consumed or enjoyed 
any benefits of fossil fuels in her 
life, she is paying a steep price for 
other’s choices.

A rainwater harvesting system costs 
$350. We know how to adapt, 
the funding doesn’t. Developing 
countries are getting 3% of the 
funding they need, and 6% of 
projects are locally-led.
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A new home, 
that never really 
feels like home

STORIES OF RESILIENCE

one of us would be blown away.

The wind stopped for a few minutes 
when we reached the shelter. Then, 
as we peered out of the small 
square window on the side of the 
shelter, it picked up again. It was 
warmer this time, but for some 
reason it sent a cold shiver down 
my spine.

That was when I saw my neighbour 
die.

There was a small group of people 
and their cows. My neighbour 
was at the front. They were 
running through the field to get to 
our cyclone shelter. They’d just 

“I went in search of the roof of my 
house. I found my neighbour’s dead 
body.”

“There were corpses everywhere – 
strewn across paddy fields, lying in 
ditches, trapped under fallen trees.

It was the day after Sidr in 2007, 
the deadliest cyclone to strike 
Bangladesh this century. I was in 
my village in Barguna, in remote 
southern Bangladesh.

I was still recovering from the 
previous night. We reached the 
cyclone shelter at 2am, after 
running for half an hour straight. 
The wind was so strong I thought 

The impacts of the climate crisis are 
forcing thousands of people from 
coastal Bangladesh into the cities. 
They move on with their lives, but 
it’s never quite the same. For many, 
they’ll never make enough money 
to return to their homes, and they 
lose generations of family, friends, 
livelihoods – but also culture and 
traditions. It’s a new home that 
never really feels like home.
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passed a row of mango trees 
when suddenly, like a mythical sea 
monster, the six-kilometre wide 
Payra river next to them swelled up 
and lurched towards the tiny group, 
towering over them. A black cloud 
rose as the crows perched in the 
mango trees fled.

The wave swept through the 
field. All I could see was water. 
Everything was drowned – the 
mango trees, the people, the cows.

We were pulled away from the 
window by a huge bolt of lightning, 
followed by a thunderclap that 
shook our bones. It was a long, 
dark night in the shelter. No one 
slept. We wanted nothing more 
than to go out and help the people 
in the field, but the storm wouldn’t 
let us. The wind and the rain were 
relentless, lashing the shelter all 
night. Even the bravest among us 
knew that stepping outside was a 
death sentence.

As the sun rose, the wind 
finally slowed, and the cloak of 
stormwater receded back to the 
river. The field was a slaughteryard, 
strewn with corpses of animals.

We walked back to our house and 
were greeted with a piece of bare 
earth. The only thing left was my 
sewing machine. Even a cyclone 
wasn’t enough to move that cast 
iron behemoth. The wind had taken 
our entire one-room tin house.

I went in search of the roof, the 
strongest part of the house – a 
sheet of corrugated iron. This would 
mark the fifth time in my life I’d 
searched for it.

The fifth time our house had been 
destroyed.

Sidr hit differently, though. Last time 
our house was destroyed, a couple 

of years back, I started rebuilding 
it myself straight after, weaving the 
hogla pata (elephant grass) into 
mats for the walls. The pattern 
came out beautifully, a perfect little 
universe of identical yellow squares. 
It gave me a little hope.

This time I had no hope left. I didn’t 
have the energy to rebuild it only 
to wait for it to be destroyed again. 
I didn’t have enough for a sixth 
storm.

Then, as I was looking for the roof, I 
saw the corpses of my neighbours.

I returned to the empty plot where 
our house once was, looked at my 
husband and he said what I was 
thinking – ‘Enough. Let’s leave this 
place. Let’s go to Dhaka.’

Life between the storms

I was born on the edge of the Payra 
river. One of my cousins was a 
teacher in a primary school and 
I tried to copy everything he did. 
I wanted to become a teacher. 
Unfortunately, that dream was 
cut short when I finished primary 
school. My parents got me married 
the year after. I was 14.

My husband farmed leased land. 
Two-thirds of the produce went to 
the landowner and we kept a third. 
Most years we farmed a quarter 
of an acre, planting two rice crops 
and one vegetable crop – usually 
potatoes. If any of the three crops 
failed we would have no profit for 
that year.

We oscillated between surviving 
and starving, until our first child 
went to school. We had to take 
on more work then so we could 
be sure we’d be able to pay his 
school fees. I borrowed my sister’s 

old pedal-driven sewing machine, 
taught myself how to operate it and 
started tailoring from home. On a 
good day I would make BDT 200 
(USD 2) – but good days were rare.

Sewing became a lifeline as our 
farm income declined. It was one 
thing after another – floods and 
cyclones battered the rice crops, 
winter chills killed the chillies, 
then the beans, eggplant and 
cucumbers were attacked by pests.

And of course there were the 
storms which came every other 
year to blow away our house.

They had a name for me now – A 
climate migrant

With the decision made, my 
husband and I and our three kids 
said goodbye to Barguna. We had 
nothing except the clothes and a 
few items we’d taken to the cyclone 
shelter, and my sewing machine. 
We took a last look at the river, 
where the sea monster from the 
day before had disappeared back 
into. We borrowed BDT 1000 (USD 
10) from a relative to buy five tickets 
on the next available boat to Dhaka 
and walked to the ferry dock.

We had nothing and knew no 
one in Dhaka. The city seemed 
to stretch forever. There were 
people in every alley, sitting on 
the side of every road, standing in 
every doorway, leaning on every 
street sign. Every one of them had 
something different to sell. It was 
cruel for the children, who had 
parents with empty pockets.

Barguna smelt of soil and cows and 
rain, and was marked by twisting 
rivers and tall palm trees. Dhaka 
smelt of dust, sweat and burning 
plastic, and was marked by drains 
blocked with rubbish and coils of 
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internet cable hanging overhead.

We stayed at a distant cousin’s 
home for five days, the five of us 
bundled in with the three of them in 
their one-bedroom home. After five 
days my husband convinced a man 
who owned a rickshaw van to let 
him rent it. He paid BDT 200 (USD 
2) to the man per day and could 
keep the profit as long as he had 
no accidents. He brought home 
BDT 300 (3 USD) on a good day. If 
there was any damage to the van 
– accidents were common on the 
tiny alleyways – he’d have to pay 
for all the repairs. We rented a 50 
square feet room for the five of us. 
I started tailoring again, displaying 
the clothes in a tiny sliver of space 
on the dusty street outside. It took 
me two years to save up enough 
to rent a shop. That shop has now 
been operating for 13 years.

People might feel that I am doing 
better now. My eldest son has 
started his own family. My daughter 
is studying to become a nurse. But 

no one asks me how I feel.

The move took away what I loved 
most. Those summer evenings 
when all the women in the village 
gathered together to tell tales and 
sing. The winter afternoons where 
we made pitha (rice cakes) to 
celebrate the harvest and feasted 
with everyone around us. I survived 
– but at the cost of the little joys of 
life that make it worth living.

In a cruel twist of fate, my daughter 
is now in Patuakhali, just near 
Barguna, studying nursing. I had to 
send her there because we couldn’t 
afford the fees in Dhaka. I can’t 
afford to stay on the coast, and I 
can’t afford to keep my children in 
the city.

If there’s anything I want now, it’s 
to return to my village. I would give 
anything to spend the rest of my 
days among my people, celebrating 
the harvest seasons together and 
weaving mats from hogla pata. 
But we will never be able to save 

enough to reclaim the life I was 
born into.”

Minara Begum, a seamstress 
who lives and works in Dhaka, 
Bangladesh.

Bangladesh is the seventh most 
climate vulnerable country in the 
world. Four tropical cyclones hit 
Bangladesh each year on average, 
costing the country over a billion 
dollars per year – nearly a month’s 
income for five million people. Two 
thousand people migrate to Dhaka 
every day already, and cyclones are 
predicted to drastically increase, 
both in frequency and intensity, as 
the planet continues to warm.

A climate resilient house/mini 
cyclone shelter costs $8,000. We 
know how to adapt, the funding 
doesn’t. Developing countries are 
getting 3% of the funding they 
need, and 6% of projects are 
locally-led.
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1 in every 7 persons in 
Bangladesh received support from 
BRAC in 2023

26 million people received some 
form of support from BRAC 

1 in every 6 persons with 
disabilities in Bangladesh 
accessed support from BRAC

800,000 persons with 
disabilities accessed support from 
BRAC

Health
12.5 million people accessed 
health and nutrition services and 
awareness messages. Almost half 
of them were women, and 800,000 
were persons with disabilities

1 in every 5 safe deliveries in 
Bangladesh were supported by 
BRAC

430,000 mothers 
underwent safe delivery with 
support from BRAC. 1 in every 
2 safe deliveries in the hard-to-
reach areas were supported by 
BRAC

2 in every 3 people tested for 
TB were through BRAC. BRAC 
tested 2.7 million people, of 
whom 208,000 were confirmed TB 
patients, and received treatment

3 in every 5 people tested for 
malaria were through BRAC. BRAC 
tested 1.1 million people, of whom 
11,000 were confirmed malaria 
patients, and received treatment

WASH
814,000 people accessed 
WASH-related services and 
awareness

Education
230,000 children accessed 
education services. 99% of the 
BRAC school students continued 

their education. 114,000 
children graduated from BRAC-
operated schools

2023 BRAC at a glance
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Financial inclusion
11 million people accessed 
financial services and awareness. 
6.8 million people accessed 
insurance services from BRAC’s 
microfinance intervention. 
5 million women equipped 
themselves with financial literacy

139,000 households living 
in ultra-poverty, including 2,757 
persons with disability, received 
asset and climate-adaptive 
enterprise support from BRAC. 
60,000 households living in ultra-
poverty graduated from extreme 
poverty

228,000 households in 
hard-to-reach areas received 
training, livelihoods, financial/loan 
support and awareness. Two-
third of them have increased 
income now

Disaster and crisis 
management
1.6 million households received 
disaster risk reduction services and 
awareness

1.6 million households received 
capacity building, simulation 
and awareness on disaster 
preparedness interventions

1.6 million households received 
weather forecasts and early 
warning messages

Climate
19,000 households accessed 
climate-adaptive solutions such as 
rainwater harvesting, agricultural 
support, climate-resilient housing, 
and tree plantation

Migration
2,300 returnee migrant 
workers and survivors of 
trafficking received psychosocial, 
social, and economic reintegration 
services

Skills
22,000 people received 
skills training including 
awareness
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GOVERNMENT ALLIANCES
BRAC has a long history of working 
in collaboration with the Government 
of Bangladesh. Our joint effort has 
significantly contributed to attaining 
many of the Millennium Development 
Goals. Below are the names of some 
of the Ministries and government units 
that we have been closely working with.

DEVELOPMENT PARTNERS

•	 Bangladesh Bank

•	 Ministry of Youth and Sport

•	 Ministry of Disaster Management 
and Relief

•	 Ministry of Home Affairs

•	 Local Government Division

•	 Prime Minister’s Office

•	 Public Private Partnership Authority

•	 Bangladesh Planning Commission

•	 National Human Rights 
Commission

•	 Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics

•	 Bangladesh Investment 
Development Authority

•	 Bangladesh Hi-Tech Park Authority

•	 Ministry of Environment Forest and 
Climate Change 

•	 Department of Environment (DoE)

•	 Microcredit Regulatory Authority 
(MRA)

•	 NGO Affairs Bureau

•	 Office of the Refugee Relief and 
Repatriation Commissioner

•	 Ministry of Chittagong Hill Tracts 
Affairs

•	 Ministry of Expatriates’ Welfare and 
Overseas Employment

•	 Bangladesh Overseas Employment 
and Services Limited

•	 Ministry of Health and Family 
Welfare

•	 Ministry of Education

•	 Cabinet Division

•	 Ministry of Railways

•	 Department of Secondary and 
Higher Education (DSHE)

•	 Directorate General of Family 
Planning (DGFP)

•	 Urban Development Directorate, 
MoHPW

•	 National Foundation for 
development of the disable Person 
(Jatiyo Protibondhi Unnayan 
Foundation)

•	 Department of Social Services

•	 Ministry of Education

•	 Ministry of Primary and Mass 
Education

•	 National Curriculum and Textbook 
Board (NCTB)

•	 Bureau of Non Formal Education 
(BNFE)

•	 Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MoFA)

•	 Bureau of Manpower, Employment 
and Training (BMET)

•	 Wage Earner’s Welfare Board 
(WEWB) 

•	 Probashi Kallyan Bank (PKB)

•	 Probashi Kallyan Desk (PKD)

•	 District Employment Manpower 
Office (DEMO)

•	 Bangabandhu Wage Earner’s 
Center (BWEC)

•	 Department of Women Affairs

•	 Department of Livestock Services 

•	 Technical Training Centres (TTCs)

•	 Civil Aviation Authority Bangladesh 
(Dhaka, Chattogram, Sylhet)

•	 Airport Police Battalion (APBn) 
(Dhaka, Chattogram, Sylhet) 

•	 Ministry of Finance

•	 Rural Development and 
Cooperative Division, MoLGRD

•	 Department of Public Health 
Engineering 

•	 Ministry of Local Government, Rural 
Development and Cooperatives

•	 Directorate of secondary and higher 
education

•	 Local Government Engineering 
Department (LGED)

•	 Department of Bangladesh 
Haor and Wetland Development 
(DBHWD) 

•	 Ministry of Water Resources 

•	 Department of Agriculture 
Extension (DAE)

•	 Ministry of Health and Family 
Welfare

•	 Directorate General of Health 
Services (DGHS)

•	 Community Clinic Health Support 
Trust (CCHST)

•	 Community Based Health Care 
(CBHC)

•	 Local Government Institutions 
(LGIs)

•	 Non Communicable Diseases 
Control (NCDC) 

•	 National Tuberculosis Control 
Programme (NTP)

•	 National Malaria Eradication 
Program (NMEP)

•	 Health Economics Unit

•	 Expanded Programme on 
Immunization (EPI)

•	 Institute of Epidemiology Disease 
Control And Research (IEDCR)

•	 National Nutrition Services (NNS)

•	 Institute of Public Health Nutrition 
(IPHN)

•	 Bangladesh National Nutrition 
Council (BNNC)

•	 Ministry of Women and Children 
Affairs (MOWCA)

•	 Ministry of Social Welfare

•	 Law and Justice Division

•	 Department of Disaster 
Management (DDM)

•	 Bangladesh Meterological 
Department
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STRATEGIC PARTNERS

Strategic Partnership Arrangement 
(SPA) is a partnership between 
BRAC, Australia and Canada, 
based on shared goals, clear 
results and mutual accountability. 
BRAC, Australia’s Department of 
Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT), 
and Global Affairs Canada have 
been working together to tackle 
the key development challenges 
more effectively, efficiently, and 
collaboratively.

The third phase of the SPA spans 
from 2021-2025 and supports 
BRAC’s overarching strategy 
to ensure economic recovery 
post-COVID-19, social cohesion 

of marginalised communities to 
retain the development gains 
achieved to date, and to support 
accelerated human development 
with the renewed focus back 
on meeting the Sustainable 
Development Goals with targeted 
and clustered programming, 
system strengthening and new 
model development. This strategic 
partnership will also help BRAC 
to strengthen its organisational 
systems and sustainability, and 
seek to influence development 
practices in Bangladesh and 
globally through shared learning 
and advocacy.

Through SPA, BRAC has been able 
to reduce the transaction costs of 
aid and facilitate a greater focus 
on high-level outcomes rather than 
inputs. With the provision of core 
funding, the partnership enables 
BRAC to develop programmes to 
address the changing needs of 
the people of Bangladesh, build 
institutional capacity, and develop 
a more holistic and integrated 
response to poverty reduction and 
inequalities.

MAJOR DONORS
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RESEARCH AND LEARNING PARTNERS
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BRAC MANAGEMENT

Core Executive Management Committee

Extended Executive Management Committee

SAIF MD IMRAN SIDDIQUE
Director, Finance
BRAC International

DIVYA BAJPAI
Executive Director
BRAC Europe

JULIA ROBERTS
President and CEO
BRAC USA

JEROME OBERREIT
Executive Director
BRAC Global
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BRAC Bangladesh Senior Management Committee

KAM MORSHED
Senior Director
Advocacy for Social Change,
Social Innovation Lab,
Technology and
Monitoring, Evaluation, Accountability and 
Learning
BRAC

MD AKRAMUL ISLAM
Senior Director
Health and
Humanitarian Crisis Management
BRAC

MOHAMMAD ANISUR RAHMAN
Senior Director
BRAC Enterprises
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BRAC Bangladesh Directors

BRIGADIER GENERAL RAKIB UDDIN AHMED (RETD)
Director
Operations
BRAC

HOSSAIN ISHRATH ADIB
Director
Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene, BRAC
Integrated Development, BRAC

MD LIAKATH ALI
Director
Climate Change, 
Urban Development and
Disaster Risk Management
BRAC

Director
Ultra-Poor Graduation
BRAC
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Director
Legal and Compliance
BRAC

SONIA WALLMAN
Director
Grants Management
Global Resource Mobilisation and Partnership
BRAC and BRAC International
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BRAC GENERAL BODY

The General Body is the collective name 
for the members of the Society registered 
in Dhaka on 21 March 1972, as the 
‘Bangladesh Rehabilitation Assistance 
Committee’ under the Societies Registration 
Act 1860. On 15 June 1992, the name of 
the Society was changed to ‘BRAC’.

The General Body presently comprises the 
following 28 members:

Under the Rules and Regulations of BRAC, the General Body elects the Governing Body.

At the BRAC Annual General Meeting on 03 February 2022, the General Body adopted the 
BRAC Governing Body’s report for 2021-22, adopted BRAC’s audited financial statements for 
the year ended 30 June 2021, and re-elected members of the Governing Body.

Abdul-Muyeed Chowdhury

Shabana Azmi

Syed S Kaiser Kabir 

Shafiqul Hassan  

Irene Zubaida Khan

Sylvia Borren

Dr Debapriya Bhattacharya

Parveen Mahmud

Advocate Syeda Rizwana Hasan 

Adeeb H Khan

Dr Muhammad Musa

Faruque Ahmed

Shib Narayan Kairy

Tamara Hasan Abed

Asif Saleh 

Dr Fawzia Nazli Rasheed

Melissa Parke

Victoria Balyejusa Sekitoleko

Marilou van Golstein Brouwers

Dr Hossain Zillur Rahman

Ameerah Haq

Gregory Chen

Fathima Dada

Simone Sultana

Lord George Mark Malloch-Brown KCMG

Professor Dr Md Abdus Sattar Mandal

Dr Fahmida Khatun

Tapan Chowdhury
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Marilou van Golstein Brouwers

Dr Hossain Zillur Rahman

Ameerah Haq
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Fathima Dada

Simone Sultana
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BRAC GLOBAL BOARD

Ms Ameerah Haq is a former Under-Secretary 
General of the United Nations at the Department 
of Field Support, for which she held the position 
from 2009, until her retirement. She was the 
senior most Bangladeshi national in the United 
Nations during those years. She recently 
served as the Vice-Chair of the Independent 
Highlevel Panel on Peace Operations at the UN. 
She has over 39 years of experience working 
with the United Nations, including 19 years in 
field assignments. She was the last Special 
Representative of the Secretary-General (SRSG) 
in the UN Integrated Mission in Timor-Leste. 
She has also held the positions of Deputy SRSG 
and UN Resident Coordinator and Humanitarian 
Coordinator in Sudan, as well as Deputy SRSG 
and UN Resident Coordinator in Afghanistan. 
In addition, Ms Haq has held senior positions 
within UNDP, and has served as United Nations 
Coordinator in Malaysia and Laos.

Ms Haq currently serves on the Board of the 
Centre for Humanitarian Dialogue in Geneva, 
Human Rights up Front, and on the Board of the 
Peace Operations Training Institute in Virginia. 
She is also an Advisor to the United Nations 
Foundation in Washington, and a member of the 
Special Advisory Group at the Challenges Forum 
of the Folke Bernadette Academy of Sweden. 
Ms Haq also delivers lectures at universities and 
speaks at seminars hosted by think tanks and 
non-governmental organisations.

During her service at the UN, Ms Haq was 
awarded the highest Presidential Medal in 
East Timor by President Jose Ramos Horta, 
the highest civilian medal of the Lao People’s 
Democratic Republic, and the Malalai Medal 
of Honor from President Hamid Karzai of 
Afghanistan, which is among the highest civilian 
honours given for courage and dedication. She 
is also the recipient of the Julia Taft Outstanding 
Humanitarian Service Award during the time she 
served as humanitarian coordinator for her work 
in Darfur, Sudan.

Martha (Marty) Chen is an Associate at the 
Mittal South Asia Institute at Harvard University 
and Co-Founder, Emeritus International 
Coordinator and board member of the global 
network Women in Informal Employment: 
Globalizing and Organizing. An experienced 
development practitioner and scholar, her areas 
of specialisation are employment, gender, and 
poverty, with a focus on people who work in the 
informal economy, and are living in poverty.

Before joining Harvard in 1987, she had two 
decades of resident development experience 
working in Bangladesh (with the well-known 
NGO BRAC) and in India (as field representative 
of Oxfam America). Dr Chen co-founded, and 
for 20 years, led the WIEGO network, a global 
network renowned for its work to improve the 
status of the people living in poverty, who work 
in the informal economy, through stronger 
organisations, improved statistics and research, 
and a more favourable policy environment.

Dr Chen received a PhD in South Asia Regional 
Studies from the University of Pennsylvania. 
She was awarded a high civilian award, the 
Padma Shri, by the Government of India in April 
2011, and a Friends of Bangladesh Liberation 
War award by the Government of Bangladesh in 
December 2012.

Currently, Dr. Chen is the Chair of the Boards of 
BRAC Global and the United Nations University 
World Institute for Development Economics 
Research (UNU WIDER).

Ms Haq received a bachelor’s degree in 
psychology from Western College for Women in 
Oxford, Ohio, in 1969. She subsequently went 
on to receive a master’s degree in community 
organisation and planning from Columbia 
University, New York, in 1972, and a master’s 
in business administration from New York 
University, in 1974.

Ameerah Haq
Member

Dr Martha Alter Chen
Chair
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Lord Mark Malloch-Brown has worked to 
advance human rights, justice, and development 
for more than four decades in a variety of roles: 
with the United Nations, the World Bank, and as 
a British government minister, as well as with a 
range of civil society groups and businesses. 

At the United Nations, Mark Malloch-Brown 
led the global promotion of the UN Millennium 
Development Goals as head of the UN 
Development Programme (UNDP). At the UNDP, 
and previously as vice president of external 
affairs at the World Bank, he led reform efforts 
to increase the impact of both organisations. 

He later served as Kofi Annan’s chief of staff, 
and then as UN Deputy Secretary General, 
before joining the British government of Prime 
Minister Gordon Brown, as minister responsible 
for Africa and Asia from 2007 to 2009. Most 
recently, he was president of the Open Society 
Foundations, the world’s largest private funder 
of independent groups working for justice, 
democratic governance, and human rights. 

Mark Malloch-Brown was knighted for his 
contributions to international affairs and is 
currently on leave from the British House 
of Lords. He is a Distinguished Practitioner 
at Oxford University’s Blavatnik School of 
Government, an adjunct fellow at Chatham 
House’s Queen Elizabeth Program, and has 
been a visiting distinguished fellow at the Yale 
Center for the Study of Globalization.

Raymond C Offenheiser is Director of the 
Mckenna Center for Human Development and 
Global Business, part of the University of Notre 
Dame’s Keough School of Global Affairs, where 
he also serves as Senior Advisor to the Dean 
and Distinguished Professor of the Practice 
providing strategic leadership to Mckenna 
Center’s academic, research, and public policy 
activities. A widely known nonprofit leader, 
innovator, and international development expert, 
Offenheiser served as President of Oxfam 
America for 20 years. Prior to joining Oxfam, he

represented the Ford Foundation in Bangladesh, 
and the Andean and Southern Cone regions of 
South America, as well as directing programmes 
for the Inter-American Foundation in Brazil and 
Colombia.

At the 2012 G20 Summit, Offenheiser was 
appointed by the Obama Administration to 
represent civil society on the leadership council 
of the New Alliance for Food Security and 
Nutrition in Africa. He is currently the Chair of 
the Board of BRAC USA, and a board member 
of BRAC Global, which oversees the work of all 
BRAC-affiliated entities across the world. He 
is also a board member of the Oxfam America 
Action Fund and the Consensus Building 
Initiative. He serves on the Forum for Corporate 
Responsibility for BHP Mining Corporation and 
the Development Partners Initiative. Offenheiser 
was a co-founder of the ONE Campaign, 
Washington, DC-based Modernizing Foreign 
Assistance Network, and the Food Policy 
Action Network. He has also served on the 
advisory b0ards of the World Economic Forum, 
the Council on Foreign Relations, the Aspen 
Institute, the World Agricultural Forum, the 
Gates Foundation, the Clinton Global Initiative, 
and both Harvard and Cornell Universities.

Ken Caldwell has held a wide variety of 
executive and non-executive leadership roles 
in international development and humanitarian 
organisations over the past 30 years.

He served as Global Programmes Director at 
Save the Children, and Executive Director of 
WaterAid International. He is a Board member 
of Oxfam GB, and has also served as a Board 
Member of the Institute of Development 
Studies, as a member of the UK Roundtable on 
Sustainable Development, and as the Founding 
Chair of BOND (the representative body for UK 
INGOs). He has worked with a wide range of 
leading global NGO federations, providing advice 
on global strategy and governance issues, and 
has published research on INGO governance.

Mr Caldwell was elected as Chair of BRAC UK 
in May 2021, and later joined the BRAC Global 
Board in June 2021.

Lord Mark Malloch-Brown KCMG
Member

Raymond C Offenheiser
Member

Ken Caldwell
Member
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Dirk Booy
Member

Dr Mohamed Ibn Chambas 
Member

Dr Mohamed Ibn Chambas has extensive 
experience from a long and distinguished career 
in governmental and international service. He 
currently serves as the African Union (AU) High 
Representative for Silencing the Guns and 
Chairman of the AU High Level Panel on Sudan.

He also serves as Chairman of the Task Force 
on the ECOWAS Trade Liberalisation Scheme, 
Chairman of the Advisory Council of the Institute 
for Security Studies (ISS Africa), member of the 
Board of the Centre for Humanitarian Dialogue 
(Geneva), member of the Governing Board of 
the Stockholm International Peace Research 
Institute, member of the Advisory Board of the 
Kofi Annan International Peacekeeping Training 
Centre (Accra), and a member of the West 
Africa Elders Forum (WAEF GEJ Foundation 
Abuja).

From 2014 to 2021, Dr Chambas served as 
Special Representative of the Secretary-General 
and Head of the United Nations Office for West 
Africa and the Sahel (UNOWAS). During that 
period, he was also Chairman of the Cameroon-
Nigeria Mixed Commission, which was 
established to facilitate implementation of the 
judgment of the International Court of Justice on 
the Cameroon-Nigeria boundary dispute.

Before joining UNOWAS, he was the AU-United 
Nations Joint Special Representative for Darfur 
and Head of the AU-United Nations Hybrid 
Operation in Darfur.

From 2010 to 2013, He was Secretary-General 
of the African, Caribbean and Pacific (ACP) 
Group of States. Prior to that, he served as 
President of the Economic Community of West 
African States (ECOWAS) from 2006 to 2009, 
and its Executive Secretary from 2002 to 2005.

Dirk Booy has over 40 years’ international 
development experience, having worked at the 
village/community level in Sierra Leone, run 
a National Field Office in Tanzania, managed 
a large fundraising office in Canada, and 
provided global leadership across 96 countries. 
He has held senior positions in large INGOs, 
both Western and Southern led, and helped 
mentor and develop over 100 leaders in the 
sector. Most recently, Booy served as the 
Senior Director for Programme Development, 
Resource Mobilisation and Learning (PRL) in 
BRAC helping to establish the PRL unit across 
the organisation.

Currently, Booy is a Consultant/Mentor/
Advisor to INGOs helping to build organisational 
capacity to improve overall impact. His focus is 
on facilitating meaningful change in complex, 
multicultural organisations. Additionally, 
he serves on a number of Boards both 
internationally and locally.

Booy has a Bachelor’s in Social Economics from 
Calvin (College) University, and a Master’s in 
International Rural Development Planning from 
University of Guelph. He resides in Mississauga, 
Ontario, Canada.

From the time he joined the Government of 
Ghana in 1987, he served as Deputy Foreign 
Minister and Deputy Minister in Charge of 
Tertiary Education at different periods. He was 
also a First Deputy Speaker and Member of 
Parliament of Ghana.

From the beginning of the outbreak of the 
Liberian civil war, he was involved in ECOWAS 
mediation efforts until the Accra Comprehensive 
Peace Agreement of 2003. He was similarly 
involved in ECOWAS mediation efforts in several 
transitions from military to civilian rule in a 
number of West African countries.

Dr Chambas holds a Bachelor’s degree in 
political science from the University of Ghana. 
He also has a Master’s degree and a Doctor of 
Philosophy degree from Cornell University and 
a Juris Doctorate degree from Case Western 
Reserve University School of Law. He was 
admitted to the Bar of the State of Ohio and the 
Republic of Ghana.
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Dr Zainab Usman
Member

Dr Hossain Zillur Rahman
Senior Trustee

Irene Khan
Member

Dr Zainab Usman is a senior fellow and founding 
director of the Africa Program at the Carnegie 
Endowment for International Peace in Washington, 
D.C. Her enduring area of expertise is identifying 
the policies and institutions to enable low and 
middle-income economies to harness their natural 
resources to achieve sustainable economic 
development. Prior to Carnegie, Usman was at the 
World Bank as a public sector specialist where 
she worked on social sustainability, energy policy 
reforms, natural resources management, and 
digital technologies. She has worked on these 
issues in Cote d’Ivoire, Morocco, Nigeria, Papua 
New Guinea, the Republic of Congo, Serbia, 
Tanzania, and Uzbekistan. 

Usman’s research has been published on various 
academic, policy, and media platforms. She is 
author of the book Economic Diversification in 
Nigeria: the Politics of Building a Post-Oil Economy, 
which was selected as one of the Best Books 
of 2022 on economics by the Financial Times. 
She is also co-editor of the book, The Future of 
Work in Africa: Harnessing the Potential of Digital 
Technologies for All. Usman contributed to the 
World Bank’s flagship report on Rethinking Power 
Sector Reforms in Developing Countries. Usman’s 
other analytical pieces have been published with 

the journal of African Affairs, the World Bank’s 
Policy Research and Working Paper Series, and 
as book chapters in edited volumes with Oxford 
University Press and James Currey. Her written 
and broadcast commentary has appeared in Al-
Jazeera English, BBC, the Financial Times, Foreign 
Affairs, Foreign Policy, Project Syndicate and The 
Washington Post.

Usman obtained her doctorate (DPhil) from the 
University of Oxford.
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Economist and social thinker, Hossain Zillur 
Rahman is a leading policy voice in Bangladesh. 
He brings a diverse array of experiences with 
him from various institutions, including the 
Government of Bangladesh. Holding a master’s 
degree in economics (Dhaka University) 
and PhD in political sociology (Manchester 
University), Dr Rahman founded the Dhaka-
based think tank Power and Participation 
Research Centre (PPRC) in 1996, and was 
elected Chairperson of BRAC Bangladesh 
in 2019. Prior to founding PPRC, he led the 
internationally renown 62-village Analysis 
of Poverty Trends Project at the Bangladesh 
Institute of Development Studies (1989-98), 
and was the lead consultant in drafting the 
Government of Bangladesh’s poverty reduction 
strategy in 2004. He was appointed a member 
of the Independent South Asian Commission on 
Poverty Alleviation (2003-06), and also served 
on the board of the central bank of Bangladesh. 
Dr Rahman has authored influential works 
in the areas of poverty, governance, social 
development and urbanisation, and was a key 
contributor to the adoption of a national social 
security strategy (2015). Dr Rahman served as 
an advisor (Cabinet Minister) for the Ministries 
of Education and Commerce as part of the 
Caretaker Government of Bangladesh (2007-
08), and was credited with a lead role in the 
subsequent return of Bangladesh to electoral 
democracy. He was awarded the Dr John Meyer 
Global Citizenship Award by the Institute for 
Global Leadership, Tufts University, in 2009. Dr 
Rahman was one of the three awardees of the 
Gold Medal Award 2013, of Rotary International 
Bangladesh for his services to humanity.

Advocate Syeda Rizwana Hasan is an enrolled 
lawyer with the Supreme Court of Bangladesh. 
She is an environmental activist, and serves 
as the Chief Executive of the Bangladesh 
Environmental Lawyers Association (BELA), 
promoting environmental justice throughout the 
country. She has led numerous successful legal 
and social campaigns that protect traditional 
livelihoods, agricultural, and forest rights, and 
fight against the illegal filling up of wetlands by 
for-profit entities, environmental aggressions, 
and pollution. 

Ms Hasan completed her master’s and 
bachelor’s in law from the University of Dhaka 
with distinction. She started her career with 
BELA in 1993, and continues to work with the 
organisation. She is a visiting faculty at the 
University of Asia Pacific, State University, and 
North South University in Bangladesh. She is 
a member of several NGOs, including the NGO 
Forum on Public Health, Rangpur Dinajpur Rural 
Service (RDRS), Friends in Village Development 
Bangladesh (FIVDB), Nijera Kori, the Association 
of Land Reforms and Development (ALRD), 
and BRAC. Ms Hasan serves as a member of 
various committees formed by the government 
on environmental issues.

Ms Hasan was a member of the Independent 
Expert Panel for the Legal Definition of Ecocide, 
convened by the Stop Ecocide Foundation, 
The Netherlands. She is an amigas (member 
of the Environmental Law Alliance Worldwide), 
member of the Environmental Law Commission 
of International Union for Conservation of Nature 
(IUCN), and a board member of the South Asian 
Network for Development and Environmental 
Economics (SANDEE). Her organisation 
is a member of the NGO Platform on Ship 
Breaking, IUCN, South Asian Watch on Trade, 
Environment, and Economics (SWATEE), and 
Friends of the Earth International (FoEI).

Ms Hasan is among the first five women 
from South Asia to receive the ‘Celebrating 
Womanhood’ award in 2008, given by the 
Creative Statement and South Asia Partnership 
based in Nepal. She received the prestigious 
Goldman Environmental Prize in 2009, for 
her outstanding contribution to protecting and 

Adv Syeda Rizwana Hasan
Member

conserving the environment. She has also been 
named as one of the 40 Environmental Heroes 
of the World by TIME magazine. In 2012, she 
was awarded the Ramon Magsaysay Award. 
Ms Hasan has been awarded the International 
Women of Courage (IWOC) award by the US 
Department of State in 2022, the Green Legal 
Award from the Balipara Foundation in 2022, 
and has been recognised as one of 16 Women 
Restoring the Earth 2023, by the Global 
Landscape Forum (GLF). 

BELA, the organisation that Ms Hasan runs, 
received the Global 500 Roll of Honours from 
the United Nations Environment Programme 
(UNEP) in 2003. BELA won the Environmental 
Award in 2007, given by the Department of 
Environment, the M Saleem Ullah Memorial Gold 
Medal in 2009, and the Tang Award from the 
Tang Foundation of Taiwan in 2020.

Dr Hossain Zillur Rahman
Chairperson
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Quais Shafiqul Hassan is the Managing 
Director of Echo Sourcing Limited UK, and 
Echotex Limited Bangladesh. Echotex received 
Bangladesh’s National Environmental Award, 
Metropolitan Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry Dhaka’s Environmental Award, 
and J Sainsbury PLC’s Corporate Social 
Responsibility Award in 2010. Echotex was 
also awarded the Best Clothing Supplier in 
2011, as well as Best Clothing Supplier and 
Supplier of the Year in 2012, by J Sainsbury 
PLC. Mr Hassan co-founded a premium 
clothing label called Ninety Percent, launched 
in 2018, that shares 90% of its distributed 
profits between social and environmental 
causes, and with people who are involved 
in making the clothes. He is the Co-founder 
of Children’s Hope, an NGO that works to 
educate children living in slums in Dhaka. 
He obtained his bachelor’s degree from City 
University, London, and master’s degree from 
Aston University, Birmingham, UK.

Quais Shafiq ul Hassan
Member

Melissa Parke has over two decades of 
experience in international law, politics, 
sustainable development, humanitarian 
affairs, human rights and governance. She 
served as Australia’s Minister for International 
Development, and is a former federal member 
for Fremantle.

Prior to entering the Australian parliament, Ms 
Parke served as an international lawyer with the 
United Nations for eight years in Kosovo, Gaza, 
New York and Lebanon. Following her retirement 
from the parliament, she was appointed as 
an ‘Eminent Expert on Yemen’ for the United 
Nations Human Rights Council. Ms Parke is the 
Executive Director of the International Campaign 
to Abolish Nuclear Weapons, and a member of 
the Advisory Council of the Australian Centre for 
International Justice.

She holds bachelor’s degrees in business 
(Curtin University) and law (University of New 
South Wales), and a master’s degree in public 
international law (Murdoch University).

Melissa Parke
Member

Adeeb Hossain Khan qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant in England in 1991, and has 
been a Senior Partner at Rahman Rahman 
Huq (Member Firm of KPMG International) 
since 2012. He is also the Chairman of KPMG 
Advisory Services Limited.

Mr Khan has been a council member of 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Bangladesh (ICAB) since 2013. He was the 
President of ICAB in 2017. He is a board 
member of Metropolitan Chamber of Commerce 
and Industry (MCCI), the oldest and one of the 
most prestigious trade chambers of Bangladesh, 
and has chaired its Taxation Sub-Committee.

Mr Khan’s past experience in directorial roles 
include Biman Bangladesh Airlines, the national 
flag carrier of Bangladesh, and Electricity 
Generation Company of Bangladesh Limited. He 
frequently speaks at various forums on matters 
connected to taxation, corporate governance, 
and private sector reform.

Adeeb H Khan
Member
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Fathima Dada is a seasoned business leader, 
educationalist and successful author. She has 
led education businesses across the globe in 
senior leadership positions including MD, CEO 
and Chairperson. She is currently the Managing 
Director of Oxford Education in the United 
Kingdom, and a member of the Board of Oxford 
AQA qualifications. She has been involved 
with government and non-governmental work 
in education policy, qualifications and large-
scale transformation and implementation. She 
has served on several ministerial committees 
and overseen education reform and policy 
development in several countries, including 
working for UNESCO to support education 
systems reform in several African countries. 
She was a council member on the Schools 
and Vocational Qualifications Authority in 
South Africa for 10 years. She helped lead the 
transformation to sustainability of the education 
intervention of BRAC in Bangladesh. Ms Dada is 
on the Board of Oasis Asset Management and 
MACAT Critical Thinking, and has previously 
been an active Board Member at affordable 
school chains and EdTech startups Omega 
(Ghana), Spark (South Africa), Bridge (Kenya) 
and Zaya (India).

Fathima Dada
Member

Dr Fahmida Khatun is the Executive Director 
of Centre for Policy Dialogue (CPD), a leading 
think tank in Bangladesh and South Asia. 
She completed her bachelor’s and master’s 
in Economics from Jahangirnagar University, 
Bangladesh. She did another master’s in 
Environmental and Natural Resource Economics, 
and a PhD in Economics from University College 
London (UCL), University of London UK. She did 
her post-doctoral research at the Earth Institute, 
Columbia University, USA, as a Fulbright Scholar 
and undertook joint research with Professor 
Jeffery Sachs. She has also participated in a 
Leadership Decision Making course at Harvard 
University, USA.

Since December 2022, Dr Khatun has been 
serving as the Co-chair of the T20 India Task 
Force on ‘Accelerating SDGs: Exploring New 
Pathways to the 2030 Agenda’ to the G20.

Dr Khatun is  a non-resident fellow at the 
Atlantic Council, a think tank based in the 
USA. She is also a member of the High-level 
Advisory Board on Productive Capacities Index 
(PCI), United Nations Conference on Trade and 
Development (UNCTAD), and the Governing 
Body of BRAC, the largest non-government 
organisation in the world. From December 
2022 to October 2023, Dr Khatun served as 
the Co-chair of the T20 India Task Force on 
‘Accelerating SDGs: Exploring New Pathways to 
the 2030 Agenda’ to the G20.

Prior to joining CPD, she worked as a 
Research Fellow at the Bangladesh Institute of 
Development Studies (BIDS), an Environment 
Specialist for the UNDP, and an Economist for 
the USAID Mission in Bangladesh. She taught 
economics at universities in Bangladesh and 
England. She was a Visiting Fellow at the 
Christian Michelsen Institute (CMI), Norway, at 
the Korea Institute for Industrial Economics and 
Trade (KIIET), South Korea.

Dr Khatun is a member of the Panel of 
Economists for the Eighth Five-Year Plan 
(2026-30), formed by the Bangladesh Planning 
Commission. She served as a member of 
the Advisory Committee for the National 
Human Development Report, prepared by the 

Dr Fahmida Khatun
Member

Economic Relations Division, Government of 
Bangladesh. She was a Director of Janata 
Bank Limited, the second largest state-owned 
bank of Bangladesh, and a Director of the SME 
Foundation of Bangladesh.

Dr Khatun’s research interests include 
macroeconomic policy, climate change, 
environment, green economy, aid effectiveness, 
international trade and WTO issues, digital 
economy, youth employment, health issues, 
interests of Least Developed Countries (LDCs), 
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), and 
women’s contribution to the economy. She has 
authored multiple publications widely at home 
and abroad. She is a columnist of the Daily 
Star, a leading daily in Bangladesh. She is also 
a contributor to the East Asia Forum. She is a 
member of the editorial board of Indian Journal 
of Human Development (JHD).

Dr Khatun delivers lectures on macroeconomic 
policy, trade, climate change issues, SDGs, 
WTO and LDC issues at several reputed 
institutions in Bangladesh. The pre-eminent 
ones include public and private universities, 
including the National Defence College, Defence 
Services and Staff College, Bangladesh Police 
Academy, and Bangladesh Public Administration 
Training Centre.
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​Dr Mandal ​worked as a member of the 
Independent Steering Committee (ISC) for 
the new CGIAR research programme on 
Fish Agri-Food Systems (FISH) at WorldFish, 
in Penang, Malaysia. He also advises the 
2030 Water Resources Group of the World 
Bank​, International Center for Wheat​ and ​
Maize Research (​CIMMYT​)​ Bangladesh​, 
and USAID’s Feed the Future programme​.​ 
He ​contributed as a government-nominated 
member of the Board of Directors of the 
Krishi Gobeshona Foundation (Agricultural 
Research Foundation​)​ and also as a Trustee 
of the Bangladesh Krishi Gobeshona 
Endowment Trust (BKGET). He worked as a 
Senior Advisor to the Food and Agriculture 
Organization of the United Nations (FAO) in 
Bangladesh, during 2015-2016.

Dr Mandal​ worked as a visiting professor 
in many universities abroad, including 
the School of Development Studies of the 
University of East Anglia, UK, in 1997​- 2000, 
and Faculty of Life Sciences of the Rhine-
Waal University of Applied Sciences, Kleve, 
Germany, in 2013 ​- 2017.

Dr Mandal received the Ekushey Padak 
(second highest civilian award in 
Bangladesh) in 202​2,​ for his contributions 
in the field of research. He received lifetime 
achievement awards from BAU Alumni 
Association (2018), Bangladesh Agricultural 
Economics Association ( 2018) and also 
Standard Chartered- Channel I lifetime Agro 
Award (2023).

Dr M A Sattar Mandal​ is currently a 
Professorial ​Fellow at the Bangladesh 
Institute of Development Studies (BIDS). Dr 
Mandal is an agricultural economist​, and 
has been involved in teaching, research 
and policy planning in agriculture and rural 
development for over five decades. He 
completed his bachelor’s and master’s in 
agricultural economics from Bangladesh 
Agricultural University (BAU) in 1973 and 
1974, respectively. He did his PhD from 
the University of London in 1979, and 
postdoctoral studies from the University of 
Oxford in 1986-87. Dr Mandal’s major areas 
of academic interests include agriculture 
and rural development, food and agricultural 
policy planning, irrigation and water resource 
management, agricultural technology​, rural 
mechanisation and agribusiness development. 

Dr Mandal was the Vice-Chancellor of 
Bangladesh Agricultural University (BAU), 
Mymensingh, during 2008-2011. He worked 
for the Bangladesh Planning Commission, 
first as a member of the General Economics 
Division during 2000-2001, when he led the 
mid-term evaluation of the Fifth Five-Year Plan 
and completed the background studies for the 
Sixth Five-Year Plan. He served the Planning 
Commission for the second term as the 
member for Agriculture, Water Resources and 
Rural Institutions Division during 2011-2013, 
when he was involved in the evaluation and 
approval of many high-profile projects relating 
to the Blue Gold project, capital dredging of 
the Jamuna river, rural development, food 
security and poverty reduction. As a follow up 
of his academic interests, he had contributed 
to the preparation of the Poverty Reduction 
Strategy Paper (PRSP) of the Planning 
Commission in 2004.

Dr Mandal has been affiliated with BAU as 
its first ​E​meritus ​P​rofessor since 2017. He 
is currently a member of the syndicate of 
Bangladesh Agricultural University and Sylhet 
Agricultural University. He has been advising 
the Ministry of Agriculture, Government of the 
People’s Republic of Bangladesh, as a member 
of its expert pool. He is currently a member of 
the Governing Body of BRAC Bangladesh.​ He 
was the co-chair of  the South Asian Policy 
Platform for Improved Nutrition and Growth 
(SAPLING).​

Dr M A Sattar Mandal
Member

Tapan Chowdhury is a prominent industrialist and 
leads SQUARE, one of the pioneer and respected 
business houses of Bangladesh. SQUARE is engaged 
in pharmaceuticals, hospitals, vertically integrated 
textiles, toiletries, food and consumer products, 
information and communication technology, organic 
tea plantation, stock brokerage and satellite television 
broadcasting.

Mr Chowdhury was an Advisor to the Caretaker 
Government of Bangladesh in 2007, and was 
responsible for the Ministry of Power and Energy, 
Youth and Sports, Food and Disaster Management, 
and Science and ICT.

Mr Chowdhury is a former President of the 
Bangladesh Textile Mills Association (BTMA), the 
Metropolitan Chamber of Commerce and Industry 
(MCCI), Bangladesh Employers Federation (BEF) and 
Bangladesh Association of Publicly Listed Companies 
(BAPLC).

Mr Chowdhury is currently an Advisor to Bangladesh 
Association of Pharmaceutical Industries (BAPI), 
Trustee of Bangladesh University of Health Sciences 
Trust (BUHS), Director of Pioneer Insurance Limited, 
Guardian Life Insurance Limited, and a Board 
Member of Central Depository of Bangladesh Limited 
(CDBL), Governing Body member of Bangladesh 
Enterprise Institute (BEI), Executive Committee 
member of International Chamber of Commerce 
(ICC), and a core group member of the United Forum 
of Churches of Bangladesh.

Over the years, the Government of Bangladesh has 
recognised Mr Chowdhury as one of the highest 
individual taxpayers of the country. He is a graduate 
of University of Dhaka, and has completed many 
advanced-level courses on business management 
and strategic planning from the UK.

Tapan Chowdhury
Member
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An international thought leader and advocate 
on human rights, gender and social justice 
issues, Irene Khan is the United Nations 
Special Rapporteur on Freedom of Opinion 
and Expression, and distinguished fellow at 
the Graduate Institute for International and 
Development Studies in Geneva. Ms Khan was 
Secretary-General of Amnesty International 
from 2001 to 2009, and Director-General 
of the International Development Law 
Organization (IDLO) from 2012 – 2019. Prior 
to that, she worked for the United Nations High 
Commissioner for Refugees for 21 years at the 
headquarters and in various countries.

Ms Khan sits on the boards of several 
international NGOs and think tanks, and has 
been a member of the World Bank’s Gender 
Advisory Council. She has received several 
honorary degrees and prestigious awards, 
including the Sydney Peace Prize in 2006, for 
her work to end violence against women and 
girls. Her book, The Unheard Truth: Poverty 
and Human Rights, has been translated into 
seven languages. Born in Bangladesh, Ms Khan 
studied law at the University of Manchester and 
Harvard Law School.

Irene Khan
CHAIR 
Stichting BRAC International Supervisory Board

Sylvia Borren has worked all her life within 
and for civil society organisations, both 
professionally and as a volunteer. She was part 
of the Dutch and global women’s and sexual 
rights movements (COC, ILGA, IWC for a just 
and sustainable Palestinian-Israeli peace) 
and is now advisor to the UN Women National 
Committee Netherlands and Atria institute on 
gender equality and women’s history. Ms Borren 
was part of the anti-poverty movement as the 
Director of Oxfam Novib 1994-2008, and Co-
chair of the Global Call to Action against Poverty 
and the Enterprise Europe Network.

She was on two national governmental advisory 
commissions for youth policy and international 
affairs; Co-chair of the Worldconnectors, a 
Dutch think tank; on the board of Altrecht, a 
mental healthcare institute; Organisational 
Consultant with De Beuk, Project Lead at 
Quality Educators for All with Education 
International, and continues to be a member of 
the Worldconnectors.

Ms Borren was recently director of Greenpeace 
Netherlands (2011- 2016), part of the Forest 
Stewardship Council Netherlands, and is now on 
the advisory commission of Staatsbosbeheer, 
which manages nature reserves.

She is a freelance consultant at Working for 
Justice, and a senior advisor for Governance 
and Integrity.

Sylvia Borren
VICE CHAIR 
Stichting BRAC International Supervisory Board

Farzana Ahmed is a UK qualified Chartered 
Accountant with nearly 40 years of experience in 
the public and private sector. Ahmed served at 
the Asian Development Bank (ADB) based in the 
Philippines for more than 20 years, where she 
led and contributed to independent evaluation, 
strategy and policy, operations and portfolio 
management. Prior to that, she held senior 
financial positions in prominent multinational 
corporations in the United Kingdom and Australia.

During her service at ABD, Ahmed was posted 
in Indonesia, and was invited to coordinate 
Australia’s support to the reconstruction of Aceh, 
following the Tsunami in 2004. She was also 
involved in managing and evaluating development 
projects in multiple ADB member countries, 
including Bhutan, Cambodia, India, Lao PDR, 
Mongolia, Pakistan, People’s Republic of China, 
Sri Lanka, Timor Leste, and Vietnam.

Driven by her passion for promoting quality 
education, Ahmed took an early retirement from 
her position at the ADB in 2019. She took on the 
responsibility of managing Kids Tutorial in Dhaka, 
Bangladesh, a family school established 35 years 
ago by her grandmother, Dr Amina Rahman, a 
renowned advocate for women’s rights.

Currently she is an Independent Director at the 
Board of BRAC Bank Limited, where she chairs 
the Board Audit Committee. Ahmed holds a 
graduation degree in Philosophy, Politics and 
Economics from Oxford University.

Farzana Ahmed
MEMBER 
Stichting BRAC International Supervisory Board
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Dr Debapriya Bhattacharya, a 
macroeconomist and public policy analyst, 
distinguished fellow, and the first Executive 
Director at the Centre for Policy Dialogue (CPD), 
Dhaka. He was the Ambassador of Bangladesh, 
and Permanent Representative to WTO and 
UN offices in Geneva and Vienna, and former 
Special Advisor on Least Developed Countries 
(LDC) to the Secretary General of UNCTAD. 
Earlier, he was a senior research fellow at the 
Bangladesh Institute of Development Studies 
(BIDS).

He studied in Dhaka, Moscow, and the 
University of Oxford. He held visiting positions 
as a Senior Fulbright Fellow at the Center for 
Global Development, Washington DC. He serves 
on the boards and working groups of various 
leading institutions, and editorial boards of 
reputed journals, including Oxford Development 
Studies. He was the General Secretary of the 
Bangladesh Economic Association for three 
consecutive terms.

Dr Bhattacharya chairs the Southern Voice, a 
network of 50 think tanks from Africa, Asia, and 
Latin America, dedicated to following up and 
reviewing the implementation of the Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDG). He led the pioneering 
multi-country studies on shaping the 2030 
Agenda of the United Nations, data deficits 
of SDG monitoring, and early signals of SDG 
implementation in the developing countries. 
He also chairs LDC IV Monitor, an independent 
partnership of eight international organisations 
and academic institutions engaged in monitoring 
the outcome of the fourth United Nations 
Conference on the LDCs.

He serves as the Convenor of the Citizen’s 
Platform for SDGs, Bangladesh – a platform 
of over 100 NGOs and private sector bodies, 
seeking to contribute to the delivery of the SDGs 
at the country level.

He recently edited the volume on Bangladesh’s 

Dr Debapriya Bhattacharya
MEMBER 
Stichting BRAC International Supervisory Board

graduation from the least developed countries 
group: Pitfalls and promises, Routledge (2018); 
Southern perspectives on the post-2015 
international development agenda, Routledge, 
London (2017); and was the team leader of the 
study titled ‘Quest for inclusive transformation of 
Bangladesh: Who not to be left behind (2017).

Enid Muthoni Ndiga
MEMBER 
Stichting BRAC International Supervisory Board

Enid Muthoni Ndiga, a Kenyan born lawyer, 
has over 25 years of experience in the fields 
of law, human rights, gender and women’s 
rights. She is the Chief Programmes Officer at 
the Center for Reproductive Rights, based in 
the Centre’s Geneva office. In her current role, 
Ndiga is overseeing programmes in Africa, Asia, 
Latin America, Europe, and the United States.

Ndiga served at the International Development 
Law Organization (IDLO) as the Regional 
Manager for Africa, and prior to that, as the 
Country Director for Kenya. She also worked 
for UNFPA, UNDP, Norwegian Church Aid, the 
Kenyan National Commission on Human Rights, 
and the Federation of Women Lawyers, FIDA 
Kenya.

Ndiga holds a Bachelor of Law from the 
University of Nairobi, a Postgraduate Diploma 
in Law, and a Masters in Gender and 
Development from the University of Nairobi. 
Currently she is pursuing an Executive Master’s 
from ESCP Madrid Spain on International 
Project Management. In addition to her other 
accomplishments, Ndiga has established herself 
as a prolific author with three published books 
covering a wide range of social subjects.
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Allert van den Ham 
MEMBER 
Stichting BRAC International Supervisory Board

Allert van den Ham is currently a Board 
member of the Philips Foundation and the Philips 
Foundation Impact Investments BV, Board 
member of the Foundation for Depository Rights 
Holders of the Triodos Bank, Advisor of the 
International Network of Bamboo and Rattan, and 
the Society for Chamber Music, The Hague.

He was the Country Director of SNV Netherlands 
Development Organisation in Laos, Myanmar 
and Bangladesh, and served as the Honorary 
Consul of the Kingdom of the Netherlands in Laos 
between 2017 and 2021. From 2011 until 2018, 
he served as the CEO and Chair of the Global 
Managing Board of SNV, and as the Chairman 
of SNV USA. He started his journey with SNV in 
2010, as the Regional Director for Asia. Before 
joining SNV, he held various positions with the 
Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs, consultancy 
firms, and the Dutch agency Oxfam Novib. From 
2003-2010, he served as the Managing Director 
of the Humanist Institute for Development 
Cooperation (Hivos).

He has been Founder, Board member and 
Advisor of several institutions, such as Social 
Watch, The Netherlands Platform for Inclusive 
Finance, Triodos Sustainable Trade Fund, and the 
Dutch branch organisation Partos. His education 
includes an MSc in Human Geography from 
Nijmegen University, a PhD in Social Sciences 
from Wageningen University and further studies 
at INSEAD.

Amira Elmissiry
MEMBER 
Stichting BRAC International Supervisory Board

MEMBER 
BRAC International Holdings BV Supervisory 
Board

Amira Elmissiry is the Chief Accountability 
Officer at the Corporate Performance 
and Accountability Department of African 
Development Bank, based in Abidjan, Côte 
D’Ivoire. 

She is an experienced lawyer and investment 
professional in private equity and corporate 
finance, and holds an MBA from the African 
Leadership University. Amira has worked with 
various international organisations, including 
Initiatives of Change International, a Geneva-
based international organisation, and the 
German Technical Cooperation.

She has a passion for development finance, 
social justice and sourcing ways for promoting 
entrepreneurial development amongst young 
people. 

Some of Amira’s personal achievements till 
date include being recognised by the Choiseul 
Institute – as one of the top 100 African 
Economic Leaders, MIPAD 100 Most Influential 
People of African Descent, and Forbes Africa’s 
Top 20 Youngest Power Women in Africa.

Stephen Rasmussen has 40 years of 
development and financial inclusion experience. 
He lives in Pakistan and has major contributions 
as a board member and advisor for several 
development, education, and financial service 
organisations.

From 2004-2023, Rasmussen worked for 
CGAP, most recently as the CEO. CGAP is a 
resource centre housed in the World Bank 
Group, that is dedicated to empowering people 
living in poverty through financial inclusion. In 
2014-2015, Rasmussen established and was 
the first CEO of Karandaaz Pakistan, a start-up 
company focused on small business finance, 
digital financial inclusion, and innovation in the 
financial sector. From 2001 to 2008, he was 
the CEO of the Pakistan Microfinance Network. 
He served as the CEO of the Aga Khan Rural 
Support Programme, a large rural development 
programme in northern Pakistan from 1994 
to 2003. He also supported the establishment 
of the first Microfinance Bank in Pakistan 
there. Prior to that, Rasmussen worked in the 
healthcare sector with the Aga Khan University 
and the Aga Khan Health services in Pakistan.

Stephen Rasmussen
MEMBER 
Stichting BRAC International Supervisory Board

CHAIR 
BRAC International Holdings BV Supervisory 
Board
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David Korslund
MEMBER 
BRAC International Holdings BV Supervisory 
Board

Isabelle Barrès
MEMBER 
BRAC International Holdings BV Supervisory 
Board

David Korslund has filled senior roles in 
banking since 1976. He began his career at 
Shore Bank in Chicago while completing his 
MBA at the Booth School of the University of 
Chicago. He worked with ABN AMRO Bank in 
the United States and The Netherlands for over 
25 years. He served 10 years with the Global 
Alliance for Banking on Values with a focus on 
research and metrics. Since April 2019, he has 
continued to provide strategic advice and insight 
on values-based banking. He is a member of the 
board and treasurer of the Fulbright Commission 
Netherlands. He serves on the board and as 
treasurer of Zuidermrkt, a local cooperative 
operating a weekly organic and biological market 
in the south of Amsterdam. He is chair of the 
Beneficial State Foundations Equitable Bank 
Standards Council.

Over the course of her 23 years career in 
financial inclusion, Isabelle Barrès has 
developed and managed the implementation 
of successful strategies to expand operations 
and increase impact at a global level. She has 
co-created and led a series of pioneer initiatives 
to improve the quality and outcomes of financial 
services for people in low-income communities, 
including the launch of MIX in 2002, and 
the Smart Campaign in 2010. From 2007 to 
2010, in Kiva’s early days, she developed and 
managed its lending operations and social 
impact strategy. Her work focuses on climate 
finance, digital transformation, and consumer 
protection. She is currently leading the European 
Microfinance Platform Green Map project to 
increase the transparency of climate-focused 
action.

Isabelle is a key contributor to best-practice 
publications on sustainability standards, 
consumer protection and digital financial 
services, and holds an MBA from McGill 
University and a postgraduate degree in 
Development Economics from the Sorbonne 
University.
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BRAC Bangladesh 
Programme Committee

The BRAC Bangladesh Programme Committee constitutes of the following Governing Body Members:

Role and purpose
To bring rigor and risk mitigation 
to the project approval process of 
BRAC Bangladesh.

Meeting date: 16 March 2022

After due deliberation, approval 
was given to the following:

•	 Approved the proposal titled- 
‘Bangladesh Climate and 
Environment Programme (BCEP)’

•	 Approved the proposal titled- 
‘Bangladesh Integrated Youth 
Activity’

•	 Approved the proposal titled- 
‘Economic Inclusion of Rural 
NEET (not in employment, 
education, and training) Youth’

•	 Approved the proposal titled- 
‘Recovery and Advancement 
of Informal Sector Employment 
(RAISE)’

•	 Approved the proposal 
titled- ‘Accelerating and 
Strengthening Skills for Economic 
Transformation (ASSET)

•	 Approved the proposal titled- 
‘Bangladesh Sustainable 
Reintegration and Improved 
Migration Governance (Phase 2)’

•	 Approved the proposal titled- 
‘Build A World of Play Challenge’

•	 Approved the proposal titled- 
‘Localisation Pooled Fund’

1. 	 Dr Hossain Zillur Rahman 
Chairperson, Governing Body 
BRAC Bangladesh 

2.	 Melissa Parke
	 Member, Governing Body
	 BRAC Bangladesh 

3.	 Adv Syeda Rizwana Hasan 
Member, Governing Body

	 BRAC Bangladesh
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1.	 Adeeb H Khan 	 2.	 Fathima Dada	 3.	 Adv Syeda Rizwana Hasan
	 Chair                                   		  Member		  Member	
	 Member, BRAC Governing Body 		  Member, BRAC Governing Body		  Member, BRAC Governing Body

4.	 Melissa Dawn Parke	 5.	 Asif Saleh	 6.	 Tamara Hasan Abed
	 Member		  Member		  Member
	 Member, BRAC Governing Body		  Executive Director, BRAC (ex-officio)		  Managing Director, Enterprises 
					     BRAC (ex-officio)

Each member is free of any 
relationship that would interfere 
with the exercise of his or her 
independent judgment as a 
member of the committee. 
Members of the committee have 
professional experience and 
expertise in different sectors.

Role and purpose
The primary function of the BRAC 
Finance, Audit & Risk committee 
is to assist the BRAC governing 
body (the board) in fulfilling its 
responsibilities regarding:
•	 Financial reporting and 

budgeting processes;
•	 System of internal controls and 

risk assessment;
•	 Compliance with legal and 

regulatory requirements;
•	 Qualifications, independence, 

and performance of the external 
auditors; and

•	 Qualifications, independence, 
and performance of the internal 
audit function.  

BRAC Investment Committee
The BRAC Investment Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving 
investments within the authority delegated by the Governing Body of BRAC.  
The Governing Body constituted the Committee with the following members: 

1. 	 Shafiqul Hassan		  Chairperson 
    	 Member, BRAC Governing Body

2. 	 Fathima Dada 		  Member
    	 Member, BRAC Governing Body

3.    Adeeb H.Khan		  Member
       Member, BRAC Governing Body

4.	 Tamara Abed 		  Member
    	 Managing Director, Enterprises 		
	 BRAC (ex-officio)

Tushar Bhowmik, Chief Financial Officer, BRAC acts as member secretary of 
the committee.

BRAC GOVERNING BODY 
COMMITTEES
BRAC Finance, Audit & Risk (FARC) Committee 2023
The governing body of BRAC constitutes the BRAC Finance, Audit & Risk Committee with the following members:

Meetings during 2022-2023

Sl. No. Name of meeting Number of Meeting

01 BRAC Finance, Audit & Risk (FARC) 
Committee

04

02 BRAC Investment Committee 02 

03 Annual General Meeting 01

04 BRAC Governing Body Committee 03

Tushar Bhowmik, Chief Financial Officer, BRAC acts as member 
secretary of the committee.
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Ombudsperson
BRAC has established an Office 
of the Ombudsperson with a 
comprehensive mandate to 
investigate any grievance or 
complaint made to him/her by 
any individual concerning any 
decision taken by BRAC. The 
Ombudsperson always maintains 
the highest level of confidentiality 
regarding complainants and 
complaints. The office prepares 
an annual report concerning the 
discharge of its functions and 
submits it to the Chairperson 
who then puts the report 
before the governing body for 
their consideration. Currently, 
Ms. Rokeya Sultana is the 
Ombudsperson of BRAC.

External auditor 
The appointment of ACNABIN 
& Co, Chartered Accountants, 
Bangladesh (network member 
firm of Baker Tilly) as the auditor 
of BRAC for the period from 1st 
July, 2023 to 30th June 2024 was 
approved in BRAC’s Annual General 
Meeting.

Anti-Money Laundering/Combatting the Financing 
of Terrorism (AML/CFT)
In line with the Money Laundering 
Prevention Act (Amendment) 2015 
and Anti-Terrorism (Amendment) 
Act 2013 of Bangladesh, BRAC 
acknowledges its responsibilities to 
combat both actual and potential 
money laundering, as well as other 
activities that facilitate money 
laundering and the funding of 
terrorists and/or other criminal 
activity. We are committed to 
preventing the misuse of our internal 
financial systems or processes for 
the laundering of proceeds from 
criminal activities and the financing 
of terrorism.

To embed the compliance in 
practice, BRAC has formulated 
its own ‘Anti-Money Laundering 
and Combatting the Financing of 
Terrorism (AML/CFT) Policy covering 
its scope of application, duties and 
responsibilities of compliance officer, 
the process of recordkeeping, 
training requirements and 
confidential reporting. Additionally, 
we have formulated a Central 
Compliance Unit (CCU) comprised 

of six (6) members headed by 
the Chief Anti-Money Laundering 
Compliance Officer (CAMLCO), 
who will be responsible for overall 
compliance issues.

We have designed our internal 
programs, as well as policies to 
include ongoing due diligence, 
record-keeping, special monitoring, 
and safeguarding policy to ensure 
compliance with these critical 
obligations. Additionally, we strictly 
prioritize the protection of sensitive 
information related to suspicious 
transaction reports. By adhering 
to these preventive measures, 
we contribute to maintaining the 
integrity of our financial ecosystem 
and safeguarding against illicit 
financial activities.
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Financials
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CREDIT RATING 

BRAC has been re-awarded the ‘AAA’ and ‘ST-1’ in the Long Term and Short Term categories respectively on its 
audited financial statements as of 30 June 2023 and other relevant quantitative as well as qualitative information by the 
Credit Rating Agency of Bangladesh Limited (CRAB) with the validity till 30 December 2024.

Yearly Comparison:

According to CRAB, AAA ratings are a testament to BRAC’s strong and stable financial position with minimal credit risk 
which is extremely capable of meeting its financial commitments. The short-term rating indicates the highest capacity 
for timely repayment of their obligations. MFI rated in this category is characterized by an excellent position in terms of 
liquidity, internal fund generation, and access to alternative sources of funds.

2023

   Long Term: AAA

  Short Term: ST-1

  Outlook: Stable

2022

  Long Term: AAA

  Short Term: ST-1

  Outlook: Stable



Independent Auditor’s Report 
and

Audited Financial Statements of 
BRAC

As at and for the year ended 30 June 2023

BDBL Bhaban (Level-13 & 15), 12 Kawran Bazar Commercial Area, Dhaka-1212, Bangladesh.
Tel: (+88-02) 410 20030 to 35 (level-13), (+88-02) 8189428 to 29 (Level-15)

Fax: (+88-02) 410 20036, E-mail: <acnabin@bangla.net>, Web: www.acnabin.com

Branch Office
Jahan Building No. 7 (1st floor, North Side), 59 Agrabad Commercial Area, Chattogram-4100, Bangladesh.

Tel: (+88-031) 333317352, Fax: (+88-031) 333317353, E-mail: <acnabin.ctg@acnabin-bd.com>
Web: www.acnabin.com
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Governing Body of BRAC

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of BRAC (“the Entity”) which comprise the statement of financial position as 
at 30 June 2023, and the statement of comprehensive income and expenditure, statement of changes in capital fund 
and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Entity as at 30 June 2023, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with the accounting policies as summarized in Note 2 to the financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in Bangladesh, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note # 2 to the financial statements, which describes the basis of preparation of the financial 
statements and the significant accounting policies. The financial statements are prepared to assist the Entity in 
complying with the requirement of Clause 37 of the Rules and Regulation of BRAC. The financial statements may not 
be suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other Matter

The financial statements of BRAC for the year ended 30 June 2022 were audited by Nurul Faruk Hasan & Co., 
Chartered Accountants. The auditor’s report was unmodified, and the date of auditor’s report was 27 November 2022.

BDBL Bhaban (Level-13 & 15)
12 Kawran Bazar Commercial Area
Dhaka-1215, Bangladesh.

Telephone: (+88-02) 410 20030 to 35 (Level-13)
(+88-02) 8189428 to 29 (Level-15)

Facsimile: (+88-02) 410 20036
E-mail: <acnabin@bangla.net>, Web: www.acnabin.com

Branch Office: Jahan Building No. 7 (1st floor, North Side), 59 Agrabad Commercial Area, Chattogram-4100, Bangladesh.
Tel: (+88-031) 333317352, Fax: (+88-031) 333317353, E-mail: <acnabin.ctg@acnabin-bd.com>, Web: www.acnabin.com
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Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the information in the 
Annual Report, Portfolio Report for the Year ended 30 June 2023, Budget Variance Report for the Financial Year and 
Fixed Asset Schedule of Microfinance Program other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 
The Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified 
above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we will communicate the 
matter to the members of the Governing Body of the Entity.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with the 
basis of accounting and accounting policies as summarized in Note 2 to the financial statements, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The members of the Governing Body of the Entity are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit.
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We also:

• 	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omission, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• 	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Entity’s internal control.

• 	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

• 	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease 
to continue as going concern.

• 	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

We communicate with the members of the Governing Body of the Entity regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the members of the Governing Body of the Entity with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

	 ACNABIN Chartered Accountants
	 Enlistment No. CAF-001-012
Dhaka, Bangladesh
Date: 27 November 2023

	 Md. Rokonuzzaman FCA
	 Partner
	 Enrollment No: 0739
	 DVC: 2311270739AS945646
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BDBL Bhaban (Level-13 & 15)
12 Kawran Bazar Commercial Area
Dhaka-1215, Bangladesh.

Telephone: (+88-02) 410 20030 to 35 (Level-13)
(+88-02) 8189428 to 29 (Level-15)

Facsimile: (+88-02) 410 20036
E-mail: <acnabin@bangla.net>, Web: www.acnabin.com

Branch Office: Jahan Building No. 7 (1st floor, North Side), 59 Agrabad Commercial Area, Chattogram-4100, Bangladesh.
Tel: (+88-031) 333317352, Fax: (+88-031) 333317353, E-mail: <acnabin.ctg@acnabin-bd.com>, Web: www.acnabin.com
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